# Designing for Health Green Infrastructure's Role in Urban Resilience and Health



Bachelor Thesis: Spatial Planning and Design Larissa Stuut S4633091 University of Groningen – Faculty of Spatial Sciences Supervisor: Özlem Altinkaya-Genel Date: 14-06-2024 Word count: 6378

# Abstract

Urban regions must quickly reduce their environmental impact as they contribute considerably to global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. By 2030, it is projected that 60% of the global population will live in cities, making them more susceptible to the consequences of climate change, including the Urban Heat Island (UHI) phenomenon and changed precipitation patterns that increase the danger of flooding. With a focus on Groningen's Schildersbuurt, this study explores the possibility of incorporating green infrastructure (GI) with urban planning to improve public health and climate adaptation. This research investigates how GI can tackle urban environmental concerns and contribute to health through critical literature analysis and research-by-design. The Schildersbuurt's notable heat absorption and susceptibility to flooding are highlighted by the research's climate analysis. The proposed design attempts to improve air quality, mitigate the effects of UHIs, and retain rainwater by implementing a GI network that includes wall gardens, permeable pavements, raingardens, and a green roundabout with underground water storage. The results are consistent with GI projects that have been successfully implemented in other cities, indicating that a healthy urban environment can be created through the employment of GI. Despite obstacles like expenses and upkeep, the research highlights the capacity of GI in promoting healthy, climate adaptive urban environments. Further studies should continue to improve these approaches, guaranteeing their efficient adaptation and implementation in different urban environments.

**Key words:** Research-by-design, Spatial planning, Green infrastructure, Healthy cities, Healthy urban planning, Climate adaptation, Urban heat island, Air quality, Pluvial flooding.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	
2. Theoretical Framework	4
2.1 Urban Heat Island Effect	4
2.2 Urban Air Quality	4
2.3 Urban Pluvial Flooding	5
2.4 Healthy City	5
2.5 Green Infrastructure	6
2.5.1 Case Studies	6
2.6 Spatial Analysis – Neighbourhood Scale	
2.6.1 Municipal Goals for Green Infrastructure	
2.6.2 Historical Background of the Schildersbuurt	
2.7 Conceptual Model	
2.8 Expectation	14
3. Methodology	
4. Results	15
4.1 Climatic Conditions	15
4.2 Design Solutions	
4.3 Final Design	
5. Discussion	
6. Conclusion	
Bibliography	
Appendix A – Design Solutions	
Appendix B – Final Design Solution	

### 1. Introduction

Nowadays cities contribute significantly to  $CO_2$  emissions worldwide, thus reducing their negative environmental effects will need to happen rapidly (Wang et al., 2021). According to the United Nations (2019), the proportion of people living in cities is expected to rise steadily, from 50% in 2010 to 60% by 2030. This makes urban regions especially vulnerable to impacts from climate change due to their core features, which include high population density, highly used infrastructure, and economic prosperity (Wang et al., 2021).

The Urban Heat Island (UHI) effect, which is defined by higher temperatures in urban areas than in surrounding rural areas, is one of the effects of climate change on cities. It presents serious risks to both environmental quality and human health. It is anticipated that climate change will significantly exacerbate this phenomenon (Basagaña, 2019; Sturiale and Scuderi, 2019). Furthermore, it is predicted that rising temperatures will change precipitation patterns, increasing the likelihood of frequent and heavy rainfall events and raising the risk of urban floods (Lo, 2013). Interventions in urban design have the potential to reduce the impact of the UHI and mitigate local pollution. Including green spaces in urban landscapes has been identified as a critical strategy to enhance cities' climate change resilience (Basagaña, 2019; Sturiale and Scuderi, 2019; Sturiale and Scuderi, 2019).

A structural method known as "green infrastructure" (GI) makes use of nature, natural processes, and mechanisms to construct infrastructure and plan cities, all the while fostering social and economic development. GI offers a multitude of advantages and can be characterised as multifunctional structures that generate numerous services. Thus, making use of GI can result in benefits that are obtained either directly or indirectly (Osei et al., 2022).

Experts in both urban planning and health have come to understand how closely urban design affects both public health and climate change. The growing difficulties encountered by climate change and its effects on health are the reason for this recognition (Wang et al., 2021). Urban planning measures have the dual effect of reducing climate change and improving public health. As stated by Wang et al. (2021), the distribution of land use, road networks, spatial form, and the availability of green spaces are critical variables that impact urban populations' health outcomes. Barton et al. (2009) state that enhancements of the built environment encourage social cohesion, physical exercise, and reduce the exposure to pollution. Urban planning, then, becomes a methodical approach to environmental management that has significant effects on the health and welfare of the public (Barton et al., 2009). Adopting the concepts of healthy city planning has the potential to improve public wellbeing outcomes and increase climate resilience, therefore contributing to being a healthy city (Wang et al., 2021; World Health Organization, 2015).

To determine whether GI can enhance citizens' health, this study investigates the relationship between urban planning and healthy cities. It is important to learn more about the potential outcomes of incorporating GI into a city as this indicates whether the strategy can be employed to both adapt to climate change and establish a healthy city.

Through critical literature analysis and research-by-design, to visualise possibilities for the future and finding answers to design issues (Hinterleitner, 2022), the impact of GI on the healthy city concept and a city's resilience have been researched to answer the question:

How can GI improve the healthy city concept while establishing resilient, climate adaptive urban neighbourhoods? With the following secondary questions:

- How can the healthy city concept be achieved in the Schildersbuurt?
- What is GI and how can it be implemented in the Schildersbuurt?
- How can the UHI effect, air pollution, and pluvial floodings be reduced with GI?

For this research, the Schildersbuurt in Groningen is chosen as a case study. The Schildersbuurt was constructed in the 1900s, when Groningen's spatial growth transitioned from "spontaneous" to "planned." Situated beyond the then-existing 17th-century fortification grounds, the area represents the city's first significant expansion (Gemeente Groningen, 2012). The neighbourhood was chosen based on the climatic factors that impact the area, such as UHI effect, the percentage of greenery, and the amount of flooding caused by heavy rainfall.

Firstly, this research describes how the concepts and theories used are defined and how they are related to each other. Then the methodology is described, and new design solutions for the chosen neighbourhood within the city of Groningen are proposed. The concluding part discusses how these designs will impact the healthy city and discusses the advantages and disadvantages of the designs, as well as comparing them to similar cases. Finally, it includes proposals for further research.

### 2. Theoretical Framework

### 2.1 Urban Heat Island Effect

As stated in the introduction, the UHI effect is a higher temperature in urban areas than in surrounding rural areas. When there is a calm wind combined with a warm summer day, the temperature difference is most noticeable. The UHI effect is induced by a variety of causes, for instance: fewer trees and plants to absorb solar radiation and facilitate evapotranspiration, more heat absorbing surfaces than rural areas and a lot of car traffic, producing heat from exhaust and engines. In the summer, health issues might arise from the heat created in the cities (Basagaña, 2019; Shmaefsky, 2006; Sturiale and Scuderi, 2019). The concerns around UHIs and their effects on public health are closely related to the goals of projects such as the European Healthy Cities programme of the World Health Organisation (WHO) (2015). These health issues range from an elevated risk of heat-related illnesses, an increased risk of underlying diseases, a higher chance of being admitted to the hospital or even dying (Heaviside et al. 2017). Urban planners are investigating strategies for expanding the amount of green space on rooftops and in the streets to absorb heat and minimise these issues (Basagaña, 2019; Shmaefsky, 2006; Sturiale and Scuderi, 2019). By tackling these issues, neighbourhoods can more effectively meet the WHO's criteria for healthy cities.

### 2.2 Urban Air Quality

When compared to rural residents, urban occupants typically experience higher levels of air pollution and temperature, along with less access to green spaces and wind (Wicht and Wicht, 2018). The increasing rate of urbanisation and excessive emissions have resulted in dangerously high levels of air pollution in various cities (Shiva Nagendra et al., 2020). As noted by Cichowicz and Bochenek (2024), these emissions are causing air pollution, which is one of the main challenges to contemporary society and has an impact on human health, life, and ecosystem function. They point out that the urban climate system is impacted by the

continuous progress of urbanisation, with construction projects leading to alterations in land development, such as a rise in the amount of soil surface sealing. Consequently, Cichowicz and Bochenek (2024) note that physical process adjustments are understood to exacerbate the UHIs. The unique characteristics of the urban environment, such as rising outdoor temperatures, cause thermal inversion to form, which restricts the vertical mixing of air masses and could exacerbate smog (Cichowicz and Bochenek, 2024).

Shiva Nagendra et al. (2020) explain that air pollution is recognised as a worldwide public health concern since it increases the frequency and intensity of heat waves, which in turn increases mortality. Air pollution is caused by greenhouse gas pollution, specifically carbon dioxide. The effects of climate change on human health include increased exposure to ground-level ozone pollution, high temperatures, and the dispersion of airborne allergens, waterborne infections, along with other infectious diseases (Shiva Nagendra et al., 2020). Cities have created a variety of mitigation techniques to adjust to climate change, including raising surface albedo, reducing impermeable surfaces, and expanding urban green spaces (Wicht and Wicht, 2018).

### 2.3 Urban Pluvial Flooding

The severity and occurrence rate of weather-related disasters, such as flash floods, river and coastal flooding, and pluvial floods, are predicted to increase in a lot of regions due to changes in precipitation patterns caused by climate change (Asadieh and Krakauer, 2017; IPCC, 2021). Based on the IPCC (2021) report, extreme weather events linked to climate change will occur more frequently, have an impact on a variety of industries, and result in systemic failures throughout Europe. Especially, the frequency, extent, and geographic distribution of severe weather events are already being impacted by climate change. One of these occurrences is pluvial flooding, which happens when water flow surpasses drainage capacity along with the infiltration rate (Wheater, 2006). Heavy rains overload water treatment facilities, cause sewage to overflow or bypass into nearby waterways, or induce cross-contamination among drinking water and sewers. These scenarios can increase the spread of various waterborne pathogens (Cann et al. 2013; de Man et al. 2016). Stormwater containing the faecal contamination is responsible for pathogens that can infect humans and cause illnesses (Ahmed et al. 2019).

### 2.4 Healthy City

Since 1988, the WHO European Healthy Cities initiative has actively included local governments, raising health to the top of their political, social, economic, and environmental agendas, and making health a matter of concern for all (World Health Organization, 2015). Healthy cities, as defined by the World Health Organization (2022), are areas of prosperity for the community where methods that promote health, well-being, peace, and the common good are accountable, participatory, and inclusive. Healthy cities set an example both locally and worldwide by interacting with the environment as well as other actors to create social, cultural, and physical environments that encourage and promote everyone equally and help people realise their full potential as human beings (World Health Organization, 1998). In this research, the main focus of this broad definition is to change the physical environment with the main goals of a healthy city. These aims are outlined by the WHO to guide cities and urban planners in achieving a healthy city. Therefore, focussing on healthy urban planning to create

environments that are healthy and support healthy lifestyles (World Health Organization, 2022).

Human health depends on nature, as claimed by Maller (2018), who also argues that nature is vital to many facets of our life. Maller (2018) believes that a healthy city is one that is intended and acknowledged as a location or, more precisely, a habitat for species not limited to just humans. Thus, describing healthy urban environments as settings where non-human animals and plants are recognised, welcomed, and actively encouraged to thrive in addition to being locations where people and non-humans can coexist and profit from their shared presence (Maller, 2018).

### 2.5 Green Infrastructure

GI is a means that uses natural solutions to provide benefits to the environment, economy, and society. It helps prevent depending on costly infrastructure when often, nature has more affordable and robust solutions to offer. The foundation of GI is the idea that urban development and spatial planning should intentionally incorporate the preservation and enhancement of nature, natural processes, and the numerous advantages that nature provides to human society (European Commission, 2013; Osei et al., 2022). GI, which is a network of natural and built components, enables hydrological and ecological processes and services. These elements include stormwater management strategies, urban forests. parklands, urban trees, permeable surfaces, and green roofs. Adding a variety of green areas will enhance the experience and maximise continuity and connectivity. It will also increase access to green spaces. Encouraging individuals to utilise these varied green areas can improve public health, and the presence of greenery itself could improve mental and physical wellness (Friedman and Pollock, 2022). The health advantages of green spaces are various and include reduced obesity, better birth weights, as well as enhanced cognitive function. Studies indicate that numerous health advantages of green spaces may be related to changes in immune function (Flies et al. 2017). Immune system function can be strengthened, lasting up to one month, by walking or spending time in a forest (Li, 2010). In addition, vegetation can filter the air, mitigate the consequences of rising temperatures and rainfall through essential ecosystem functions that lessen human exposure to climate change (Friedman and Pollock, 2022).

### 2.5.1 Case Studies

Table 1 shows different case studies, that implement various GI elements, to address different issues found within the city of studies. Some of these are related to how GI positively impacts the public health within the chosen location.

#### Case study

#### **Oslo, Norway**

In comparison with artificial surfaces, GI can drastically decrease surface temperatures, particularly tree canopies. In Oslo, regions with vegetation are 10°C cooler than areas with pavement, thus the GI mitigates the UHI effect. The health of Oslo's residents benefits from this, as each tree within the city could lower the danger of heat exposure by one day for an individual that is heat-sensitive. (Venter et al., 2020)



#### Barcelona, Spain

Barcelona's Superblocks design uses GI to mitigate UHIs and provide improved air quality and a cooler urban environment. Improved physical and mental health have also resulted from this, and a decline in hospital admissions is anticipated. Furthermore, it is expected that GI will enhance kids' behavioural and cognitive development. (Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2024)



#### **Buffalo, NY, United States**

In periods of intense rainfall, a GI tool known as permeable pavement considerably lowers the combined sewer overflow. The most effective solutions are frequently those that cluster and optimise the permeable pavements. The danger of waterborne illnesses and pollution from sewer overflows has decreased as a result of the implementation of permeable pavements to reduce sewer overflow, therefore improving public health. (Torres et al., 2022)

#### (Torres et al., 2022)



Victoria, Australia

al., 2024)

Portland uses GI to detain stormwater, eliminate pollutants, reduce the impact of UHIs, and enhance the streetscape attractiveness. The city incorporates trees, gardens, green spaces, green walls, ecoroofs, and vegetated stormwater management systems. The focus on designing with nature promotes a more sustainable and healthier urban environment for people and wildlife, along with supporting ecosystem services. The integration of GI offers several advantages, such as equitable transportation. effective stormwater management, and a decrease in greenhouse gas emissions. (Bureau of Planning and Sustainability, 2023; Tillett, 2017)

problem of poor air quality. GI techniques are

since they absorb toxic air pollutants and offer several additional ecosystem services. Trees,

absorption and are less expensive than green

pickup, it did increase energy and liveability

which have the maximum air pollutant



Table 1: Case studies that employ different GI elements (Stuut, 2024)

### 2.6 Spatial Analysis – Neighbourhood Scale

The living conditions of communities are greatly influenced by urban planning, which in turn has a major effect on the communities' general quality of life. Healthy urban planning integrates data and policy to improve the lived experience of urban places and encourage positive changes for people (D'Onofrio and Trusiani, 2018). Two key design scales for healthy cities are identified by D'Onofrio and Trusiani (2018) as the local neighbourhood scale and strategic urban policies. They stress the critical role that neighbourhoods play in starting initiatives that attempt to integrate several health determinants and factors, including community involvement, climate adaptation, mobility, and the creation of diverse green spaces. Therefore, the neighbourhood scale is applied in this study. The choice of location is determined by the combination of which neighbourhood in the city of Groningen experiences the UHI effect and a neighbourhood with a low percentage of greenery. Consequently, when looking at Figure 2 and 3, the Schildersbuurt was selected as focus of this research (location is shown in Figure 1).



Figure 1: Location of Schildersbuurt within Groningen (Stuut, 2024)



Figure 2: Urban Heat Island effect in the city of Groningen. (Esri Nederland et al. 2021)



Figure 3: The percentage of greenery per neighbourhood in the city of Groningen in 2020 (Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas, 2021c).

#### 2.6.1 Municipal Goals for Green Infrastructure

According to a report prepared for and in collaboration with the municipality of Groningen (van Driessche et al., 2021), the city hopes to address the challenge of climate adaptation by strengthening the overall correlation within the urban environment and the relationship between the city's cultural and environmental identities. The document emphasises the significance of water infiltration, which supports the newly constructed street grid by converting the municipality from a drainage city to a "sponge city." Apart from contributing to water drainage and retention, the report underlines the importance of biodiversity and wildlife in urban settings. It stresses that biodiversity should be expanded, and this will ensure a resilient green ecosystem with proper management. The report lists a few potential strategies for developing a resilient city, including promoting community gardens and facade gardens, integrating building and street design, and establishing green environmental roadsides (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Example of including municipal goals in residential street design (van Driessche et al., 2021)

The municipality also published a report describing the "Groenplan Vitamine G", a comprehensive plan outlining goals and tactics for expanding, enhancing, and improving Groningen's green spaces (Gemeente Groningen and Strootman Landschapsarchitecten, 2020). It focuses on tackling issues pertaining to biodiversity, ecology, greenery, and climate adaptation, especially regarding the reduction of heat stress and water overflow. In addition to stressing the benefits of green spaces for people and animals, the strategy also highlights the environmental, health, air quality, climate resilience, recreational, aesthetic, cultural heritage, and economic importance of these areas. The plan lays out concrete steps, rules, overarching ideas, and creative fixes to accomplish these goals. Together with a long-term (until 2030) vision, it also lists the initiatives and financial commitments scheduled for the upcoming years to achieve these objectives. The goal is to increase the quantity, quality, and accessibility of green spaces to make the municipality greener. This entails adding 30.000 m<sup>2</sup> of greenery and planting 1.000 trees in the public space yearly. Improving the general quality of the living and working environment, encouraging a healthy lifestyle, and making sure that green places are preserved and maintained are among the primary goals. The "Groenplan Vitamine G" measures are intended to help increase the city's resilience to climate change. In order to improve green and climate-resilient public spaces, the following measures are significant for this research: establishing a municipal ecological structure and a regulation for natureinclusive building; de-paving public space, which entails removing or reducing hard surfaces; putting green initiatives like the Tiny Forests and Green Roofs Stimulus Programme into action; and funding the renovation of green spaces and the planting of more trees (Gemeente Groningen and Strootman Landschapsarchitecten, 2020).

### 2.6.2 Historical Background of the Schildersbuurt

The Groningen neighbourhood known as Schildersbuurt has a rich background. The Drentse A, a waterway that occasionally flooded due to tidal impacts, was a defining feature of the region west of the Hondsrug, prior to the establishment of the city of Groningen. The region became covered in clay caused by these floods. Compared to the adjacent higher terrain on the Hondsrug, where the city developed, the area was less ideal for habitation due to its lower height and irregular flooding (Gemeente Groningen, 2012).

Throughout the late 19th and early 20th centuries, the area underwent enormous expansion. To restrict the unchecked building activities of private individuals, a stedenbouwkundig plan (urban development plan) was developed in 1893 for the area located between the Hoendiep and the Reitdiep (Figure 1). Despite not being carried out, this plan indicated the start of more municipal involvement in the future growth of the area.

The Schildersbuurt went through phases of development, the years 1900–1913 were especially important, the Schildersbuurt gained its unique personality during this period when a stedenbouwkundig plan was created for a residential section of the neighbourhood (Gemeente Groningen, 2012).

### 2.7 Conceptual Model

The conceptual model, in Figure 5, shows the significance of incorporating GI and healthy city design concepts, and it emphasises how environmental issues can be tackled, public health can be improved, and urban areas' resilience to climate change can be strengthened. This model shows a tool for combining research and design, and how theoretical knowledge feeds the design process.



### 2.8 Expectation

Using a designated neighbourhood in Groningen as its focal point, the study investigates the potential and constraints brought about by using GI within urban planning. This research aims to evaluate the viability and efficacy of the municipality's goals and objectives for the region in terms of improving community resilience and health. The spatial challenges associated with putting GI into practice are examined, with an emphasis on how urban design approaches might lessen these obstacles. The objective of this study is to shed light on how GI initiatives might enhance the local neighbourhood's environmental quality, advance public health outcomes, and lessen the impact of the UHI. After the research is finished, the expectation is that GI would have a favourable impact on neighbourhood health and hence promote a healthy city.

## 3. Methodology

This methodology presents an approach to comprehending and resolving Groningen's urban difficulties. To establish limitations and goals, several reports and policies from the Groningen municipality have been examined. To provide a comprehensive picture of the neighbourhood's past and present, policies for the area has been evaluated. Furthermore, a report regarding the municipality's plans for climate adaptation for the city has also been reviewed. Data from maps created by Klimaateffectatlas and Esri Nederland were used and have been evaluated for spatial analysis with ArcGIS. The data collected concerns the neighbourhood's heat stress, flooding, and different vegetation-related metrics, which includes the percentage of paved surface, the distance to cooler areas (greenery), and the number of trees.

After the secondary data analysis, primary data was collected in the form of designs. This method is known as research-by-design, which is an academic investigation that employs design as a technique of analysis, involving project development and material experimentation (De Queiroz Barbosa et al., 2014). Prior to actual design work, research is done to provide a basic grasp of the study question (Roggema, 2017). Pre-design research in this context refers to the secondary data gathered including literature and spatial data about the Schildersbuurt, which provides a fundamental understanding of the area and initiates the design process (Figure 5).

The reflective practice of design incorporates critical analysis, evaluation, and comparison. It involves a constant cycle of shifting between questioning and proposing, using sketching as a means of problem identification and solution formulation (Hauberg, 2011; Roggema, 2017). As noted by Hauberg (2011), even though research is done using models and drawings, and is conducted in the language of designers, the design process is comparable to research. Nevertheless, design is different given that it is primarily concerned with visualising possibilities for the future and finding answers to design issues (Hinterleitner, 2022). Handmade sketches are used as a starting point in this study, and more refined final designs will be digitally created with ArcGIS, Photoshop, SketchUp and Lumion.

Roggema (2017) states that the objective of research-by-design is to achieve a balance between research methods and experimental design activities. Continually creating, rationalising, and evaluating several design solutions is part of the process. Integration is examined and evaluated critically as the process progresses, resulting in the ultimate presentation of compelling findings. These findings mark the post-design phase's completion and provide insights into projected futures as well as possible outcomes (Roggema, 2017). The comparative study, which is part of the post-design phase, uses an approach that entails analysing the designs and outcomes by comparing them with case studies mentioned in Chapter 2.5.1. These comparative techniques compel researchers to reevaluate how situational their claims are by nature and to exceed the boundaries of their theoretical framework (Brill, 2022). This comparative method will offer insightful information about the advantages and disadvantages of the suggested solutions, facilitating a more thorough comprehension of their suitability and efficacy in related situations.

It is important to follow the methodology with ethical considerations. The secondary data that has been used for the climatic conditions is publicly available, and no personal data has been utilised in this study. Every data source has been evaluated, making sure that the data is valid and credible. To acknowledge others' property rights, the data sources used in this study are all referenced in the text and listed in the Bibliography.

### 4. Results

### 4.1 Climatic Conditions

The Schildersbuurt in Groningen's spatial analysis of climate conditions reveals a complex relationship between environmental elements and urban growth. The neighbourhood has a few spots of vegetation that advantageously impact local microclimates and biodiversity, with 20–30% of the public areas being green space (Figure 6). Nevertheless, with 70–80% of the land made up of built and paved surfaces (Figure 7), there are negative aspects, like less permeability for rainwater absorption and greater heat retention. A 20–30% of trees (Figure 8) can offer only little relief by providing shade and reducing the impact of the UHI effect.



Figure 6: The percentage of greenery per neighbourhood in Groningen in 2020 (Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas, 2021c).

Figure 7: Percentage of built and paved surfaces per neighbourhood in Groningen (Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas, 2021b).



Figure 8: Percentage of trees in public spaces per neighbourhood in Groningen (Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas, 2021a).

The analysis also emphasises how noticeable the UHI effect is in the Schildersbuurt (Figure 9), where significant temperature variations are seen in different zones. Considering the constructed surfaces' high heat-absorbing capacity and the limited amount of greenery, much of the neighbourhood experiences a temperature difference between 1,4°C and 1,8°C as compared to rural areas. The neighbourhood's older southeast part reveals a more prominent UHI effect, with a temperature differential of up to 1,8°C to 2,0°C. On the other hand, the northwestern section stands out as the coolest zone within the community, with a temperature difference varying between 0,8°C to 1,6°C higher. This area directly next to the Reitdiep channel is striking since there is a cooler temperature with variations from 0,8°C to 1,0°C there due to a considerably mitigated UHI effect caused by the cooling effect of water. Additionally, Figure 10 shows that there is a spatial relationship in the Schildersbuurt between the distribution of cooler places, which are primarily green spaces, and their proximity to housing. The neighbourhood's centre area has the greatest distance to cooler regions, ranging from 300 to 500 metres. In one case, the centre's position is even more than 500 metres away from these cooling areas.

Besides a relatively high UHI effect, the neighbourhood is also prone to experience pluvial floods. With Figure 11 and Figure 12 showing the effect of heavy precipitation on the Schildersbuurt street pattern. These maps display the vulnerability of the centre area of the neighbourhood. Combining Figure 10 with Figure 11, resulted in Figure 13, presenting the problem locations within the Schildersbuurt. Based on this map, a priority location was chosen to be used as design subject. In Figure 14 the selected streets (Jozef Israëlsstraat and Taco Mesdagstraat) are displayed, the large open space (Jozef Israëlsplein) has a distance of 500 metres or more to cooler areas and is surrounded on three sides by streets that are prone to floods. These climatic conditions make this location a suitable place to research the impact and effectiveness of GI.



Figure 9: Urban Heat Island effect in the Schildersbuurt (Esri Nederland et al. 2021).



Figure 11: Maximum thickness of the water layer after intense rainfall, in the Schildersbuurt, that occurs once a hundred years (Esri Nederland et al. 2021a).



Figure 13: Combination of distance to cooler areas and the risk of flooding in the Schildersbuurt (with rainfall occurring once a hundred years) (Esri Nederland and Climate Adaptation Services, 2022; Esri Nederland et al. 2021a; Stuut, 2024).

Figure 10: Distance to cooler areas (greenery) in the Schildersbuurt (Esri Nederland and Climate Adaptation Services, 2022).



Figure 12: Maximum thickness of the water layer after intense rainfall, in the Schildersbuurt, that occurs once in thousand years (Esri Nederland et al. 2021b).



Figure 14: Selected streets and the problems they experience (Esri Nederland and Climate Adaptation Services, 2022; Esri Nederland et al. 2021a; Stuut, 2024).

### 4.2 Design Solutions

This section presents the exploration of various design solutions for implementing GI within the priority location of the Schildersbuurt. The primary focus is on assessing the effectiveness of adapting to climate change, and the health impact of these designs. To come to a final design solution, first various ideas were devised to make the neighbourhood more climate resilient (Table 2). This process is known as ideation, analysing design solutions to corroborate the effectiveness of the different tools used (Lee and Ostwald, 2022). Later in the design process different solutions, such as raingardens and permeable pavement, were combined to create a resilient and healthy neighbourhood. This combination led to the first design, which was solely based on adding vegetation to decrease the heat and including permeable pavements to retain water. Afterwards, the design was evaluated, and social health aspects were included. When designing the decision was made to keep the layout of the streets the same, with parking on one side and keeping the same traffic flow.

Design	Method / Software	Challenge	Process
Adding greenery next to housing	Handmade sketch	Reduce UHI effect and improve air quality by adding greenery.	1. Coming up with design solutions.
Wall garden	Handmade sketch	Reduce UHI effect and improve air quality by adding greenery.	1. Coming up with design solutions.

<image/> <caption></caption>	Photoshop	Reduce UHI effect and improve air quality by adding greenery in the Jozef Israëlsstraat.	1.1 Digitalised version of coming up with design solutions.
<image/>	Handmade sketch	Reduce UHI effect, pluvial floods and improve air quality by adding small green spaces in streets.	1. Coming up with design solutions.
Tross-section of raingarden	Handmade sketch	Reduce pluvial floods by implementing raingardens.	1. Coming up with design solutions.





Table 2: Evolution of the design process (Stuut, 2024)

### 4.3 Final Design

After evaluation and integration of different ideas, one final plan for the selected streets within the Schildersbuurt was created. Figure 15 shows the current greenery situation in the neighbourhood, and Table 3 indicates the estimated percentage of greenery, as well as for the new design. This design, illustrated in Figures 16, 17, 18 and 19 (more in Appendix B), combines vegetation with infrastructure, to create a GI network within the streetscape. This being wall gardens and raingardens that serve multiple functions: retaining water, absorbing heat, and filtering the air. Furthermore, the design implements permeable pavements underneath parking spaces and bicycle parking to retain water and minimise water runoff, by increasing the water infiltration. Another feature of the proposal is a vegetated roundabout, serving as a small green space, which also includes a subsurface water basin connected to the system of raingardens. To achieve the chosen focus of the healthy city concept, a healthy neighbourhood has been created through GI, by reducing the UHI effect the health risks associated with high temperatures will also be mitigated. The raingardens and wall gardens are intended to reduce heat and filter the air, creating better air guality for the citizens. The permeable pavement and raingardens, connected to the underground water storage will alleviate the sewer system and decrease the risk of pluvial floods and the contamination of water. The addition of the small green space and vegetable gardens are intended to encourage outdoor activities among residents, promoting a healthy lifestyle. Another aspect that will stimulate people to spend time outdoors and improve social connectivity, is the placement of urban furniture, and the inclusion of a swing for children. Within the roundabout, new trees are located, which will provide shade, thereby contributing to a cooling effect on the neighbourhood. Throughout the new design, a wide variety of plants and flowering plants are placed to increase the biodiversity, contributing to the ecosystem's health.



Figure 15: Greenery and permeable surfaces of the current situation in the selected location (Stuut, 2024)

	CURRENT		NEW DESIGN
Total m <sup>2</sup>	5.918,31 m²	Total m <sup>2</sup>	5.918,31 m²
Permeable or vegetated	4,36%	Wall garden	3,39%
9		Permeable pavement	17,68%
		Raingarden	12,48%
		Vegetated roundabout	5,24%
		Vegetable garden	0,81%
		Total %	39,60%

Table 3: Estimated percentages of greenspace and permeable surface in the current situation and the new design (Stuut, 2024)



Figure 16: Layout of the final design (Stuut, 2024)



Figure 17: Cross-section of the vegetated roundabout with underground water storage (Stuut, 2024)



Figure 18: Impression of street design (Jozef Israëlsstraat), with wall gardens, raingardens, and permeable pavement (Stuut, 2024)



Figure 19: Impression of vegetated roundabout located in Jozef Israëlsplein, before (top) and after (bottom) (Google Maps, 2017; Stuut, 2024)

### 5. Discussion

The proposed design (explained in Chapter 4.3), which addresses several city-wide problems like the UHI effect, air pollution, and pluvial flooding, includes vegetative stormwater management systems, featuring an underground water basin, raingardens and permeable pavements. The method uses vegetation's natural processes to control precipitation and increase urban resilience, and according to the case study of Portland (Bureau of Planning and Sustainability, 2023), this will create a healthier urban environment. The benefits of GI in filtering water runoff, eliminating pollutants, and improving the urban streetscape are demonstrated by the city's regulation establishing stormwater retention and the incorporation of vegetated stormwater basins (Tillett, 2017). The final design implements more trees to reduce the UHI effect, improve air quality and health. This is confirmed by the case studies of Oslo (Venter et al., 2020) and Victoria (Jayasooriya et al., 2017), as these studies both employ trees and other GI elements to absorb toxic air pollutants and decrease UHIs. The Oslo case study has shown that adding GI will benefit heat-sensitive residents' health, since it lowers the danger of heat exposure (Venter et al., 2020). The case of the Superblocks in Barcelona has demonstrated that GI can also enhance physical and mental health of the residents, besides cooling the urban area (Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2024). Additionally, the Schildersbuurt design also includes permeable pavement and a network of raingardens to manage stormwater and lower UHI. These GI elements will reduce the risk of floodings and sewer overflow, which will lower the danger of waterborne illnesses and pollution from sewage overflow. The research of Torres et al. (2022) in Buffalo, has shown that permeable pavements are a good way to reduce the risks of pluvial floods and to improve public health by decreasing the chances of infection by waterborne illnesses.

The final design also aids in achieving the municipality's goals to transition into a "sponge city" (van Driessche et al., 2021) by including a network of raingardens and permeable pavement that is connected to an underground water basin. These raingardens will contribute to the aim of 30.000 m<sup>2</sup> of greenery within the city and aids in the de-pavement of Groningen (Gemeente Groningen and Strootman Landschapsarchitecten, 2020). The design also includes vegetable gardens to stimulate community involvement, additionally a diversity of plants are used to increase the biodiversity.

Although there are advantages, there are also limitations and difficulties in implementing this design. The possible implementation cost and upkeep of GI elements, which could require ongoing funding and community involvement, is one concern. Moreover, the degree to which these actions effectively lower UHIs, pluvial floods and enhance air quality may differ based on how widely and densely they are implemented on the city level. On top of that, the successful integration of all GI elements in the whole Schildersbuurt is a challenge, due to the differentiating street patterns, in some situations only certain aspects of the design could be implemented in the streetscape. It is important to place urban furniture and green areas in a way that satisfies the requirements and preferences of the local population to achieve the intended social and health outcomes, which include more outdoor activities and higher social connectivity.

### 6. Conclusion

The purpose of this research-by-design study was to provide a solution to the following question: "How can GI improve the healthy city concept while establishing resilient urban neighbourhoods?" The Schildersbuurt neighbourhood in Groningen presents notable issues due to its high percentage of built and paved surfaces, which reduces precipitation

permeability and increases heat absorption, resulting in the UHI effect. These difficulties, along with the region's susceptibility to pluvial floods, emphasise the importance of stormwater management solutions.

To reduce the impact of UHI effects, improve air quality, and improve rainwater retention, the proposed GI design for the Schildersbuurt includes a vegetated stormwater management network encompassing raingardens, permeable pavements, wall gardens, and a vegetated roundabout with underground water storage. This strategy is consistent with the GI projects that have been carried out in several cities that have shown the value of these interventions in improving air quality, managing stormwater, mitigating temperature rise, and enhancing overall urban resilience. Moreover, the results of the study connect with the wider objectives of the WHO Healthy Cities programme, placing a focus on developing surroundings that are healthy and support healthy lives. The urban environment with GI will reduce the UHI effect, pluvial floods, and enhance air quality, making the area healthier for residents, as the consequences of high temperatures, toxic pollutants, and waterborne illnesses are decreased. Assisting the municipality of Groningen in its goals for green space growth and climate adaptation, the research-by-design process has enabled the creation of design solutions that are suited to the specific characteristics and challenges within the Schildersbuurt.

Nevertheless, there are certain difficulties in putting these GI solutions into practice. Costs, upkeep requirements, the efficiency of GI altering depending on the situation, and the importance of satisfying the social and recreational desires of the residents need to be considered. Despite these obstacles, putting an emphasis on increasing green space and improving vegetative cover provides a viable route towards a Schildersbuurt that is more robust, healthy, and ecologically balanced. The knowledge gathered from this research emphasises how critical it is to continuously assess and modify urban planning techniques to maximise benefits, handle new issues, and eventually promote sustainable and healthy cities.

It is essential that forthcoming studies continue to investigate and improve these approaches, guaranteeing their efficient execution and adjustment to various urban environments. Since mostly secondary data and designs are used, calculations and test need to be done to determine how much the reduction of UHI will be and how much the increase of water infiltration and air quality will be, as well as if this influences peoples' health positively and in what ways. Resident feedback may also be valuable in helping to develop a potential plan that would motivate people to spend more time outdoors, along with input from the municipality to include their objectives.

### Bibliography

Ahmed, W., Hamilton, K., Toze, S., Cook, S., Page, D. (2019). A review on microbial contaminants in stormwater runoff and outfalls: Potential health risks and mitigation strategies. *Science of the Total Environment*. Volume 692. pp. 1304–1321. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.055</u>.

Asadieh, B. and Krakauer, N. Y. (2017). Global change in streamflow extremes under climate change over the 21st century. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* Volume 21. pp. 5863–5874. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-5863-2017</u>.

Barton, H., Grant, M., Mitcham, C., Tsourou, C. (2009). Healthy urban planning in European cities. *Health Promotion International*. Volume 24. Issue 1. pp 91–99. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1093/heapro/dap059</u>.

Basagaña, X. (2019). Heat Islands/Temperature in Cities: Urban and Transport Planning Determinants and Health in Cities. In: Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Khreis, H. (eds) *Integrating Human Health into Urban and Transport Planning*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74983-9\_23</u>.

Brill, F. (2022). Practising comparative urbanism: methods and consequences. *Area*. Volume 54. Issue 2. pp. 252–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12771</u>.

Brown, R., Vanos, J., Kenny, N., Lenzholzer, S. (2015). Designing urban parks that ameliorate the effects of climate change. *Landscape and Urban Planning*. Volume 138. pp 118-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.02.006</u>.

Bureau of Planning and Sustainability. (2023). 2035 Comprehensive Plan. Portland: City of Portland, Oregon.

Cann, K. F., Thomas, D. R., Salmon, R. L., Wyn-Jones, A. P., & Kay, D. (2013). Extreme waterrelated weather events and waterborne disease. *Epidemiology and infection*. Volume 141. Issue 4. pp. 671–686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268812001653</u>.

Cichowicz, R. and Bochenek, A. D. (2024). Assessing the effects of urban heat islands and air pollution on human quality of life. *Anthropocene*. Volume 46. 100433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ancene.2024.100433</u>.

de Man, H., Mughini Gras, L., Schimmer, B., Friesema, I. H., de Roda Husman, A. M., & van Pelt, W. (2016). Gastrointestinal, influenza-like illness and dermatological complaints following exposure to floodwater: a cross-sectional survey in The Netherlands. *Epidemiology and infection*. Volume 144. Issue 7. pp. 1445–1454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268815002654</u>.

De Queiroz Barbosa, E., DeMeulder, B., Gerrits, Y. (2014). Design Studio as a Process of Inquiry: The case of Studio Sao Paulo. *Architecture & Education Journal*. Volume 11. pp. 241–254.

D'Onofrio, R. and Trusiani, E. (2018). Urban Planning and Design Centred on Health Metrics. In: *Urban Planning for Healthy European Cities.* Springer Cham. pp.101–112. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1007/978-3-319-71144-7</u>.

Eggimann, S. (2022). The potential of implementing superblocks for multifunctional street use in cities. *Nature Sustainability*. Volume 5. Issue 5. pp. 406–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-022-00855-2</u>.

Esri Nederland and Climate Adaptation Services. (2022). *Afstand tot koelte*. [online] Available at: <u>https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/Afstand\_tot\_koelte/MapServer</u>. [Accessed 25 Mar. 2024].

Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas. (2021a). *Basiskaart Groen en Grijs - Boom per buurt*. [online] Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/BasiskaartGroenGrijs\_Boo mperbuurt/MapServer. [Accessed 23 Mar. 2024].

Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas. (2021b). *Basiskaart Groen en Grijs - Grijs per buurt*. [online] Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/BasiskaartGroenGrijs Grijs \_\_per\_buurt/MapServer. [Accessed 23 Mar. 2024].

Esri Nederland and Klimaateffectatlas. (2021c). *Basiskaart Groen en Grijs - Groen per buurt*. [online] Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/BasiskaartGroenGrijs\_Groe n\_per\_buurt/MapServer. [Accessed 25 Feb. 2024].

Esri Nederland, Klimaateffectatlas and Atlas Natuurlijk Kapitaal. (2021). *Stedelijk Hitte Eiland Effect*. [online] Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/Stedelijk\_hitte\_eiland\_effec t/MapServer. [Accessed 25 Feb. 2024].

Esri Nederland, Klimaateffectatlas and Deltares. (2021a). *Waterdiepte bij intense neerslag - 1:100 jaar*. [online] Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/Waterdiepte\_bij\_intense\_ne erslag\_1\_per\_100\_jaar/MapServer. [Accessed 24 Mar. 2024].

Esri Nederland, Klimaateffectatlas and Deltares. (2021b). *Waterdiepte bij intense neerslag - 1:1.000 jaar*. Available at:

https://tiles.arcgis.com/tiles/nSZVuSZjHpEZZbRo/arcgis/rest/services/Waterdiepte\_bij\_intense\_ne erslag\_1\_per\_1000\_jaar/MapServer. [Accessed 24 Mar. 2024].

European Commission. (2013). *Green Infrastructure (GI)* — *Enhancing Europe's Natural Capital*. Brussels. pp.1–11.

Flies, E.J., Skelly, C., Singh Negi, S., Prabhakaran, P., Liu, Q., Liu, K., Goldizen, F.C., Lease, C., Weinstein, P. (2017). Biodiverse green spaces: a prescription for global urban health, Frontiers in *Ecology and the Environment*. Volume 15. Issue 9. pp. 510–516. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1630</u>.

Friedman, A., and Pollock, A. (2022). Green Open Spaces. *Fundamentals of Planning Cities for Healthy Living*. pp. 43–58. Anthem Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv307fh7v.8</u>.

Gemeente Groningen. (2012). *Bestemmingsplan Schildersbuurt*. [online] Available at: <u>https://gemeenteraad.groningen.nl/Documenten/Bestemmingsplan-Schildersbuurt.pdf</u>. [Accessed 6 Mar. 2024].

Gemeente Groningen and Strootman Landschapsarchitecten. (2020). *Uitvoeringsplan Groen Groningen: Vitamine G.* Available at: <u>https://gemeente.groningen.nl/file/uitvoeringsplan-groen</u>. [Accessed 14 Apr. 2024].

Google Maps. (2017). *Google Street View - Jozef Israëlsplein*. [online] Google Maps. Available at: <u>https://www.google.com/maps/@53.2159929</u>. [Accessed 12 Jun. 2024].

Hauberg, J. (2011). Research by Design - a research strategy. *Architecture & Education Journal*. Volume 5. pp. 46-56.

Heaviside, C., Macintyre, H. and Vardoulakis, S. (2017). The Urban Heat Island: Implications for Health in a Changing Environment. *Current Environmental Health Reports*. Volume 4. pp. 296–305. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1007/s40572-017-0150-3</u>.

Hinterleitner, J. (2022). Notions from practice: Research by design as a stepping stone for the implementation of integral forms of spatial design. In F. Berlingieri, R. Cavallo, E. Corradi, & H. de Boer (Eds.). *Design Actions for Shifting Conditions*. pp. 131-138.

IPCC. (2021). *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis*. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. <u>doi:10.1017/9781009157896</u>.

Jayasooriya, V.M., Ng, A.W.M., Muthukumaran, S., Perera, B.J.C. (2017). Green infrastructure practices for improvement of urban air quality. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*. Volume 21. pp. 34-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2016.11.007</u>.

Lee, J. H. and Ostwald, M. J. (2022). The relationship between divergent thinking and ideation in the conceptual design process. *Design Studies*. Volume 79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2022.101089</u>.

Li, Q. (2010). Effect of forest bathing trips on human immune function. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*. Volume 15. Issue 1. pp. 9–17. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12199-008-0068-3</u>.

Lo, A. (2013). The role of social norms in climate adaptation: Mediating risk perception and flood insurance purchase. *Global Environmental Change*. Volume 23. Issue 5. pp. 1249-1257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.07.019</u>.

Maller, C. (2018). Redefining healthy urban environments. In: *Healthy urban environments*. London: Routledge. pp.1–20. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.4324/9781315620534</u>.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M., de Nazelle, A. Cirach Pradas, M., Daher, C., Dzhambov, A.M., Echave, C., Gössling, S., Lungman, T., Khreis, H., Kirby, N., Khomenko, S., Leth, U., Lorenz, F., Matkovic, V., Müller, J., Palència, L., Pereira Barboza, E., Pérez, K., Tatah, L., Tiran, J., Tonne, C., Mueller, N. (2024). The Superblock model: A review of an innovative urban model for sustainability, liveability, health and well-being. *Environmental Research*. Volume 251. Part 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2024.118550.

Osei, G., Pascale, F., Delle-Odeleye, N., Pooley, A. (2022). Green Infrastructure. In: *The Palgrave Encyclopedia of Urban and Regional Futures*. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. pp. 1–10. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1007/978-3-030-51812-7\_260-1</u>.

Roggema, R. (2017). Research by Design: Proposition for a Methodological Approach. *Urban Science*. Volume 1. Issue 2. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/urbansci1010002</u>.

Shiva Nagendra, S.M., Khare, M., Schlink, U., Peter, A.E. (2020). Introduction to Urban Air Pollution. In: Shiva Nagendra, S.M., Schlink, U., Müller, A., Khare, M. (eds) *Urban Air Quality Monitoring, Modelling and Human Exposure Assessment*. Springer Transactions in Civil and Environmental Engineering. Springer, Singapore. pp. 3–11. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1007/978-981-15-5511-4\_1</u>.

Shmaefsky, B. (2006). One Hot Demonstration: The Urban Heat Island Effect. *Journal of College Science Teaching*. Volume 35. Issue 7. pp. 52–54. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/42992461</u>.

Sturiale, L., Scuderi, A. (2019). The Role of Green Infrastructures in Urban Planning for Climate Change Adaptation. *Climate.* Volume 7. Issue 10. Number 119. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli7100119</u>.

Tillett, P. (2017). *Shaping Portland: Anatomy of a Healthy City* (1st ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.4324/9781315528496</u>.

Torres, M. N., Rabideau, A., Ghodsi, S. H., Zhu, Z., & Shawn Matott, L. (2022). Spatial design strategies and performance of porous pavements for reducing combined sewer overflows. *Journal of Hydrology*. Volume 607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2022.127465</u>.

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. (2019). *World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision (ST/ESA/SER.A/420)*. New York: United Nations.

van Driessche, M., de Groot, J., Redekop van der Meulen, E., Ga Leung, C., Chen, S. (2021). *New Space For Living: Design Guideline – Quality of Public Space.* Gemeente Groningen.

Venter, Z. S., Hjertager Krog, N., Barton, D. N. (2020). Linking green infrastructure to urban heat and human health risk mitigation in Oslo, Norway. *Science of The Total Environment*. Volume 709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136193</u>.

Vidal, V., Cortés, A., Badia, A., Villalba, G. (2024). Modeling air quality at urban scale in the city of Barcelona: A matter of green resolution. *Journal of Computational Science*. 102289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocs.2024.102289</u>.

Wang, L., Jiang, X., Li, X. (2021). Healthy City and Its Planning. In: Ren, C., McGregor, G. (eds) *Urban Climate Science for Planning Healthy Cities*. Biometeorology. Volume 5. pp. 17–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-87598-5\_2</u>.

Wheater, H. S. (2006). Flood Hazard and Management: A UK Perspective. *Philosophical Transactions: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*. Volume 364. Number 1845. pp. 2135–2145. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/25190318</u>.

Wicht, M. and Wicht, A. (2018). LiDAR-Based Approach for Urban Ventilation Corridors Mapping. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*. Volume 11. Number 8. pp. 2742-2751. <u>https://doi-org.proxy-ub.rug.nl/10.1109/JSTARS.2018.2791410</u>.

World Health Organization. (1998). Health Promotion Glossary. World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2015). *National healthy cities networks in the WHO European Region: promoting health and well-being throughout Europe*. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.

World Health Organization. (2022). *How to develop and sustain healthy cities in 20 steps*. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.

# Appendix A – Design Solutions

Lumion renderings of the first design





Jozef Israëlsplein



Taco Mesdagstraat



Jozef Israëlsstraat



Jozef Israëlsstraat

# Appendix B – Final Design Solution





Jozef Israëlsplein



Taco Mesdagstraat



Taco Mesdagstraat



Jozef Israëlsstraat



Jozef Israëlsplein



Taco Mesdagstraat



Jozef Israëlsstraat